THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY  
Benjamin H. Culbertson, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No: 2017-001488

---

RECEIVED

JUN 20 2018

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

v.

JAMAR ANTONIO HUGGINS,

APPELLANT.

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

Tricia A. Blanchette  
Bar No. 74904

Post Office Box 2147  
Leesville, SC 29070  
(803) 908-3266

Attorney for Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO GRANT A NEW TRIAL ON THE BASIS OF NEWLY DISCOVERED EVIDENCE.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

During the March 2013 term of the Horry County Grand Jury, Appellant was indicted for burglary, kidnapping and armed robbery (2013-GS-26-1076, 1077, 1078). On September 15, 2014, Appellant was called to trial in Horry County in front of the Honorable Benjamin H. Culbertson. Appellant was represented by J. Reuben Long, III, Esquire. Donna Elder, Assistant Solicitor, represented the State. On September 17, 2014, Appellant was found guilty as indicted. The Honorable Benjamin H. Culbertson sentenced Appellant to concurrent terms of fifteen years, fifteen years and ten years for each charge.

A timely direct appeal was filed and perfected by Robert M. Pachak, Esquire, of the Office of Appellate Defense. On March 30, 2016, the South Carolina Court of Appeals affirmed Appellant's convictions and sentences. State v. Huggins, Op. No. 2016-UP-146 (S.C. Ct. App. filed March 30, 2016). The remittitur was issued on April 15, 2016.

A Motion for a New Trial Based on After Discovered Evidence, with Affidavit of Deaungela Montgomery, was filed on September 27, 2016. A hearing was conducted on June 13, 2017 at the Horry County Courthouse in front of the Honorable Benjamin H. Culbertson. Appellant was present and represented by Natasha M. Hanna, Esquire. The State was represented by Jimmy A. Richardson, II, Fifteenth Circuit Solicitor. Following the hearing, Appellant, through counsel, filed a Memorandum in Support of Defendant's Motion for a New Trial. On June 14, 2017, the Honorable Benjamin H. Culbertson issued a written Order, which was filed on June 15, 2017. A Notice of Appeal was filed, from which this Brief follows.

## ARGUMENT

### THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO GRANT A NEW TRIAL ON THE BASIS OF NEWLY DISCOVERED EVIDENCE.

In pertinent part, Rule 29(b), of the South Carolina Rule of Criminal Procedure, provides:

A motion for a new trial based on after-discovered evidence must be made within one (1) year after the date of actual discovery of the evidence by the defendant or after the date when the evidence could have been ascertained by the exercise of reasonable diligence.

By way of the Rule 29(b), SCRCrimP, Motion at issue, Appellant alleged after discovered evidence and requested a new trial. To prevail on this claim a defendant “must show that the after-discovered evidence: 1) is such that it would probably change the result if a new trial were granted; 2) has been discovered since the trial; 3) could not in the exercise of due diligence been discovered prior to trial; 4) is material; and 5) is not merely cumulative or impeaching.” State v. Spann, 334 S.C. 618, 619, 513 S.E.2d 98, 99 (1999) (citing State v. Prince, 316 S.C. 57, 447 S.E.2d 177 (1993); Hayden v. State, 278 S.C. 610, 299 S.E.2d 854 (1983); State v. Harris, 391 S.C. 539, 706 S.E.2d 526 (Ct. App. 2011)).

It is well established that the decision whether to grant a new trial rests within the sound discretion of the trial court, and the appellate court will not disturb the trial court's decision absent an abuse of discretion. State v. Johnson, 376 S.C. 8, 11, 654 S.E.2d 835, 836 (2007); State v. Simmons, 279 S.C. 165, 166, 303 S.E.2d 857, 858 (1983). In State v. Mercer, 381 S.C. 149, 166-67, 672 S.E.2d 556, 565 (2009), the South Carolina Supreme Court explained:

In this post-trial setting, our jurisprudence recognizes the gatekeeping role of the trial court in making a credibility assessment. State v. Porter, 269

S.C. 618, 621, 239 S.E.2d 641, 643 (1977) (noting that the determination of whether new evidence is credible for purposes of a new trial motion rests with the trial court); State v. Deese, 266 S.C. 534, 538, 225 S.E.2d 175, 176 (1976) (noting that the trial court is tasked with assessing the new evidence in a motion for a new trial); State v. Pierce, 263 S.C. 23, 33, 207 S.E.2d 414, 419 (1974) (quoting State v. Mayfield, 235 S.C. 11, 34-35, 109 S.E.2d 716, 729 (1959)) ("The credibility of newly-discovered evidence offered in support of a motion for a new trial is a matter for determination by the circuit judge to whom it is offered. In him, not this court, resides the power to weigh such evidence; and his judgment thereabout will not be disturbed except for error of law or abuse of discretion."). On review, we may not make our own findings of fact. The deferential standard of review constrains us to affirm the trial court if reasonably supported by the evidence.

Often times, the matter of newly discovered evidence boils down to a credibility issue as discussed in State v. Mercer, 381 S.C. 149, 672 S.E.2d 556 (2009). Here, the lower court's written ruling reads in its entirety as follows:

Defendant's Motion for New Trial due to newly discovered evidence is denied.

At trial, Deaungela Montgomery testified that the defendant was not the person who committed the crimes with her and that she did not to identify the true co-perpetrator. Her testimony was impeached with her inconsistent prior statements given to law enforcement where she identified the defendant as the co-perpetrator of the crimes.

The Defendant's Motion for a New Trial is based upon Deaungela Montgomery's identification of another person as the co-perpetrator after the defendant's conviction at trial. She states in an affidavit that she is no longer scared of the co-perpetrator and, therefore, identifies him by name (which she refused to do at trial).

Such evidence is merely cumulative since, at trial, Deaungela Montgomery testified that the defendant was not the true co-perpetrator and that someone else committed the crimes with her. Also, the evidence could have been discovered prior to trial with due diligence. When Deaungela Montgomery refused to identify the true perpetrator at trial, the defendant did not press her on that issue or ask that she be required to identify who committed the crime with her. (At the time of Deaungela Montgomery's testimony at the defendant's trial, she had already pled guilty and been sentenced to one of the crimes in the case).

See Hayden v. State, 278 S.C. 610, 278 S.E.2d 610 (1983) and Rule 29(b), SCRCrimP.

R. pp. 270-271.

As a threshold matter, it appears from the lower court's ruling that he found the evidence offered via the Affidavit and interview of Ms. Montgomery to be credible since he focused his written decision on the merits of the evidence.<sup>1</sup> It further appears that the lower court's denial hinged on two of five elements required to establish newly discovered evidence as is addressed in the final paragraph of the court's ruling. Therefore, Appellant will address those elements and urges this Court to find that the lower court erred in finding that the evidence offered "could have been discovered prior to trial with due diligence" and "is merely cumulative." R. p. 271.

Turning first to whether the evidence could have been discovered prior to trial in the exercise of due diligence, Appellant submits that the lower court committed an error of law and his reasoning is not supported by the record as his own statement demonstrates. The lower court concluded: "Also, the evidence could have been discovered prior to trial with due diligence." R. p. 271. Immediately, thereafter, the lower court reasoned: "When Deaungela Montgomery refused to identify the true perpetrator at trial, the defendant did not press her on that issue or ask that she be required to identify who committed the crime with her." R. p. 271.

The lower court's reasoning is reversible error for two reasons. First, the court's reasoning is erroneous as he is referring to discovery during the course of trial not prior to trial. No findings were made by the lower court regarding how this information could have been discovered, in the exercise of due diligence, prior to trial.

---

<sup>1</sup> If this Court finds that the lower court failed to make a credibility finding, Appellant would request that the matter be remanded to the lower court for such a finding. Credibility was addressed by counsel at the motion hearing and in detail in the Memorandum in Support of Defendant's Motion for New Trial. R. p. 236.

Secondly, the court's reasoning is erroneous because the evidence simply could not have been discovered prior to or during trial. As late as the night before trial, the State interviewed Ms. Montgomery, yet the State admitted being surprised by her trial testimony. Additionally, Ms. Montgomery made it clear at trial that she did not recall the home invasion. At the time of trial, it appears Ms. Montgomery's testimony was solely about her police interview and not a current independent recollection of the events in question.

In addressing the lower court's error, it is imperative to look at the facts of the case and the testimony offered at trial. It is uncontested that Deaugela Montgomery and two men went to the home of Angela Eckler looking for Adrian Moore on December 20, 2012. Thereafter, Ms. Montgomery went to the door, fully visible, and two men rushed into the home robbing and detaining Ms. Eckler and her twelve year old daughter against their will.

About three weeks later, Ms. Montgomery was interviewed. Detective Martin admitted that she informed him that she was using crack cocaine. R. p. 104. Through the interview, she identified "Junk" as one of the masked men in the home with a gun. She also identified Appellant, based upon a photograph provided by law enforcement, as "Junk." As was argued at the motion hearing, this identification was the result of admitted deception on the part of law enforcement. R. p. 253. Prior to obtaining the photo identification of Appellant, Detective Martin lied and showed Ms. Montgomery that she had been identified in a photo line-up by the victim, which had not occurred. R. pp. 105-108.

When Ms. Montgomery took the stand at trial, she testified that she could not remember the night in question, she could not remember her police interview, and after explaining that she was “on medication now,” she stated, “I can’t remember nothing really. R. p. 50, lns. 6-15, pp. 51-52. The State continued to question her lack of memory and asked what she told “somebody last night,” to which she responded:

Question: One of the armed robberies that you have been convicted for, I want to take you back to the one in December 2012.

Answer: Uh-huh.

Question: Do you remember that?

Answer: Not really.

Question: Okay. Do you remember going to a house on Memory Lane?

Answer: Yes, ma’am.

Question: And tell me about what happened when you went to that house?

Answer: I can’t really remember.

Question: All right do you remember giving statements before?

Answer: No. I’m on medication now. So I don’t --- I can’t remember nothing really.

Question: All right. Do you remember talking to somebody last night, yesterday?

Answer: Yes.

Question: Okay. Well, tell us what you told him about this event.

Answer: I told him about me and Tyjuan McKeithan going, planning a robbery and went to, I guess her name is Mariah Eckler.

Question: Uh-huh.

Answer: And he called somebody but that – he don't look like the same guy.

Question: Do you remember telling him that it was Junk?

Answer: Yeah. I remember the name by Tyjuan but he doesn't look like the same person.

R.. p. 50, ln. 20 – p. 51, ln. 2.

She further explained that she did not even recall her police interview and then she was questioned at length regarding the information contained in her police interview not her independent recollection of the night in question. R. pp. 51 – 61. In response to the defense objection regarding questions about her police interview, the court responded: "She said she did not recall the incident. This is a different question. I'll allow it. Overruled. R. p. 51, lns. 9-12. Interestingly, the same court that found the evidence could have been discovered prior to trial, ruled at trial that Ms. Montgomery did not recall the incident at trial; thus, allowing her to be questioned about her interview and the information that she previously gave to law enforcement.

When asked about her identification of Junk during her police interview, she responded: "After they say – after they asked me was it Junk, I, I don't remember him. I don't know him." R. p. 51, lns. Thereafter, the following testimony was elicited:

Question: And you – do you deny that you made a statement?

Answer: I probably did because, I mean, I don't know. I don't know. I can't really remember nothing.

Question: Okay. Did you make a statement to police identifying Junk as the one who went with you and Ty to do an armed robbery?

Answer: I remember the name. So, yes, I did make the statement, but what I'm telling you is this is not the same person.

Question: Okay. Do you recall when you say that Junk with you that the person you identified as Junk was Jamar Huggins.

Answer: I guess because they asked me was it Junk and I assumed that it was Junk by the name. So I said it was him.

Question: And you described him at the time.

Answer: I don't remember describing him.

R. p. 52, lns. 1-14.

During the remainder of her testimony, she repeatedly responded that she could not identify Appellant as the perpetrator, she could not identify Appellant as Junk nor testify that he was involved. R. pp. 55-56, 58, 60-63. She also repeatedly explained that the information she gave in the interview was not the truth, but she could not remember the night in question or the interview very well. R. pp. 56-57, 59-60.

Specifically, on cross examination, counsel asked the following:

Question: Ms. Montgomery, this is not the person who went in that home invasion with you, is it?

Answer: No, ma'am. No, sir.

Question: It is not the person who went in the home invasion with you?

Answer: No, sir.

R. p. 62, lns. 2-7.

During her brief cross-examination, it appears Ms. Montgomery was able to recall that Appellant was not involved, but she never gave any indication that she had an independent recollection at trial of who was involved. By way of the written Order, the lower court held that trial counsel could have pressed her on the identity of the perpetrator and requested that she be required to identify the perpetrator, but a proper review of her testimony demonstrates that the trial court errantly focused on what he

would have like to have heard during the course of trial versus the limited capacity in which Ms. Montgomery was able to exercise recall during trial.

After Ms. Montgomery's testimony, the State requested a Jackson v. Denno hearing prior to calling Detective Martin to the stand. R. p. 76, lns. 16-24. In explanation, the State conceded: "I didn't foresee it, but after Ms. Montgomery's performance today on the stand, I think's it's necessary." R. p. 76, lns. Logically speaking, this explanation from the State demonstrates how discovery was impossible prior to trial if the State interviewed their own witness the night before trial and were still surprised by Ms. Montgomery's testimony.

By way of an interview and affidavit provided at the motion hearing, Ms. Montgomery explained that she was on heroin and crack and had trouble remembering the date of the crime. R. p. 233. In contrast to trial, she could now recall the facts of the night in question. She recalled being with Tyjuan McKeithan and, she called Jamar Huggins to use his car. R. p. 233. Appellant told her no. R. p. 233. Then, McKeithan called "Junk Jamar Huggins," and Appellant said yes. R. p. 233. She explained her plan with McKeithan to go to "Drake's" home, take him off and rob him. R. p. 233. She stated that they did not tell Appellant what was going on when they took his car, and they did not tell him what happened afterwards. R. p. 233.

She provided details of her interrogation and explained how scared she was due to the threats she received during it. R. p. 234. She recalled picking the circled picture of Jamar Huggins, so she would be left alone. R. p. 234. She stated that she never told law enforcement that Appellant sold drugs. R. p. 234.

Regarding the trial, she stated that Drake sat behind her during the trial. She felt “weird” and feels the “case was handled wrong.” R. p. 234.

In a follow up interview, she stated that Jasmine Mitchell was the second man with her during the crime. R. p. 234. Mr. Mitchell threatened her and put in in fear for her family. R. p. 234. She explained that she was reluctant to tell police his name because of her fear and knowledge that he commits violent crimes. R. p. 234.

As is argued above, the lower court erred in finding that the evidence contained in the affidavit and interview could have been discovered prior to trial. What was discovered prior to trial by the State was not even consistent with Ms. Montgomery’s testimony at trial, and Ms. Montgomery’s testimony at trial clearly did not amount to an independent recollection of the facts as provided via the affidavit and interview. Furthermore, the lower court’s reasoning shows that he actually found that the evidence could have been discovered during trial, which is also reversible error.

Turning to the lower court’s finding that the evidence was merely cumulative, it is also clear from the record that this finding is reversible error. As is addressed above, Ms. Montgomery lacked an independent recollection of the facts at trial, and she now she has such a recollection, which is not cumulative to the evidence offered at trial. Additionally, the State fully impeached Ms. Montgomery with her interview and prior admissions, and her admission regarding the true perpetrator amounting to a complete confession falls outside the scope of mere impeachment testimony.

Also, as argued to the lower court, Ms. Montgomery was the only witness that implicated Appellant prior to or during trial. Ms. Eckler could not identify Appellant.

Therefore, the testimony of Ms. Montgomery is in no way cumulative to any other evidence offered at trial regarding the identification of the third perpetrator.

At trial, the lower court denied the motion for directed verdict, yet the lower court determined that it was a “close call” and noted that Appellant may prevail on the issue on appeal. R.. p. 176, lns. 9-21. As argued to the lower court, it is no longer a close call as Ms. Montgomery has now made a complete confession regarding her involvement in the crime at issue, which properly discloses the identity of the third perpetrator. Regarding confessions, the Supreme Court of the United States has held:

A confession is like no other evidence. Indeed, the defendant's own confession is probably the most probative and damaging evidence that can be admitted against him. The admissions of a defendant come from the actor himself, the most knowledgeable and unimpeachable source of information about his past conduct. Certainly, confessions have profound impact on the jury, so much so that we may justifiably doubt its ability to put them out of mind even if told to do so.

Arizona v. Fulminante, 499 U.S. 279, 296, 111 S.Ct. 1246, 1257 (1991) (Internal citations and punctuation omitted). See Johnson v. Catoe, 345 S.C. 389, 401, 548 S.E.2d 587, 593 (2001) (Pleicones, J., dissenting). “Every practicable precaution should be taken to insure that a verdict really speaks the truth, for if it does not an innocent man may be imprisoned for years.” Newsom v. United States, 311 F.2d 74, 79 (5<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1962) (Reversing the denial of a motion for a new trial based upon testimony of a witness stating that defendant was merely present during a sale of drugs and not involved as alleged at trial).