ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Horry County
Benjamin H. Culbertson, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2017-001488

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

JAMAR ANTONIO HUGGINS,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DAVID SPENCER
Senior Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

JIMMY A. RICHARDSON
Solicitor, Fifteenth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Drawer 1276
Conway, SC 29526
(843) 915-5460

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED
JUN 19 2018
SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Horry County
Benjamin H. Culbertson, Circuit Court Judge

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

The trial court did not err in finding the State's witness's claim identifying someone else as her accomplice was merely cumulative to her trial testimony that Appellant was not her accomplice. Because the affidavit contradicted her trial testimony that she did not know Appellant, it was more inculpatory than exculpatory. The alleged after-discovered evidence would not change the result if a new trial was held.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A jury convicted Appellant Huggins of burglary in the first degree, armed robbery, and kidnapping following trial on September 15-17, 2014, before the Honorable Benjamin H. Culbertson. Judge Culbertson sentenced Huggins to concurrent sentences of fifteen years' imprisonment for first degree burglary, fifteen years' imprisonment for kidnapping, and ten years' imprisonment for armed robbery.

Appellate Defense represented Huggins on his subsequent direct appeal. The convictions and sentences were affirmed by this Court. State v. Huggins, Op. No. 2016-UP-146 (S.C. Ct. App. filed March 30, 2016). The remittitur was issued on April 15, 2016.

Huggins filed a motion for new trial based on after-discovered evidence on September 27, 2016. Following a hearing before Judge Culbertson, Judge Culbertson denied the motion by order dated June 14, 2017. On March 28, 2018, Huggins moved to hold his pending post-conviction relief application in abeyance pending the outcome of this appeal.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On December 20, 2012, Angela Eckler (Victim) heard her dog growl and knock at her door in the middle of the night. R. p. 64, lines, 13-14; p. 66, line 5 - p. 67, line 1. Thinking it was a friend she calls Grandma, she opened the door to find a well-dressed woman. R. p. 67, lines 5-15. She turned to quiet her dog, who normally never barks. The dog was perceptive: two men entered Victim's house as the woman ran off. R. p. 67, lines 16-25. Victim was put in a headlock and dragged around the house. The men demanded money and held her captive in her bathroom. R. p. 68, line 8 - p. 69, line 16. The men turned their attention to her twelve year-old daughter. From the bathroom, she heard her daughter telling the men her only money was her birthday money in her purse on the table. After robbing the child of her birthday money, the cowardly robbers pushed her daughter into the bathroom. R. p. 69, lines 11-19. After the robbers left, Victim drove herself and her twelve-year-old daughter to the police department. R. p. 70, lines 1-9. She was unable to identify the men but was able to identify the woman. R. p. 71, lines 2-12. The police also talked to Victim's fiancé, who identified the woman who came to the door based on the description given. R. p. 98, line 12 - R. p. 99, line 8. Deaungela Montgomery was the woman acting as a decoy for the robbers. She directed the police to Huggins and he was arrested and charged with first-degree burglary, armed robbery, and kidnapping. R. p. 99, line 16 – p. 100, line 22.

At the time of her testimony, Deaungela Montgomery was incarcerated for two counts of armed robbery. R. p. 49, lines 2-9. Montgomery was not offered anything from the State to testify at Huggins' trial, nor did she receive assistance from the State when sentenced for the crime in this case. R. p. 49, line 19 - p. 50, line 5. When asked whether she recalled telling a detective a man named Junk was with her during the crime and if she picked him out in a photograph, she claimed

she assumed it was Junk but did not know him. R. p. 51, lines 14-18. When asked about giving a statement to police, she testified she probably did but did not know because she “can’t really remember nothing.” R. p. 51, line 22 - p. 52, line 3. She claimed, “I remember the name [Junk]. So, yes, I did make the statement, but what I’m telling you is this is not the same person.” R. p. 52, lines 4-8. Montgomery testified she did not remember describing Junk to police as far as his height and the fact that he had long dreads, but she did recall saying he had hair and a grill in his mouth. R. p. 52, line 13 - p. 53, line 2. She testified she recalled describing where Junk lived and telling police the car they drove to Victim’s house belonged to Huggins and Huggins drove it to Victim’s house and went into Victim’s house wearing a mask and carrying a weapon. R. p. 53, lines 9-25. She recalled telling her interviewer she went to Victim’s house and knocked on the door. R. p. 54, lines 18-20. Montgomery admitted when Victim opened the door, she asked if Dre was there and Victim answered he was not. R. p. 54, line 24 - p. 55, line 1. Montgomery admitted she walked back to the car while Huggins and another man went into the house. R. p. 55, lines 1-9.

Montgomery admitted Junk went with her to Victim’s house, but claimed Huggins did not look like the same person because his hair was different. R. p. 61, lines 4-15. On cross-examination, defense counsel asked Montgomery if Huggins was not the person who invaded the home with her, and she said no. R. p. 62, lines 2-7. On redirect, she claimed she identified Junk as the person but did not know Junk’s real name. R. p. 62, lines 12-20. When asked whether she identified the person in a picture a detective showed her as Junk, she claimed the picture was already circled when it was shown to her. R. p. 63, lines 1-5. However, she agreed she identified that person as Junk. R. p. 63, lines 6-9. On the other hand, she claimed she did not know whether that was the person who went into Victim’s house, and when asked whether he was the person who drove the car to Victim’s

house, she said he was not. R. p. 63, lines 10-15.

Outside the presence of the jury, the State asked to impeach Montgomery by allowing publication of her statement taken by a detective who was about to testify. R. p. 78, line 23 – p. 79, line 2. The trial court did not allow the statement to come in because Montgomery admitted to making the statement. R. p. 93, lines 8-16.

Detective Jonathan Martin with the Horry County Police Department interviewed Victim at her home a few days after the incident. R. p. 96, lines 1-11. He spoke to Victim's fiancé, Adrian (also known as Dre and Drake), who identified Montgomery. R. p. 98, line 10 - p. 99, line 2. He developed Huggins as a suspect because of his interview with Montgomery. R. p. 99, line 13 – p. 100, line 5. Montgomery identified Huggins as Junk and described him in detail—long hair, early 30s, black male, grill in his teeth—and also where he lived and the vehicle he drove. R. p. 100, lines 3-14. Detective Martin located Huggins' house and found the Cadillac Montgomery described on the street. He connected both the house and the vehicle to Huggins. R. p. 100, lines 15-18.

On cross-examination, Detective Martin explained he told Montgomery she could help herself by identifying the other parties involved but did not mention Huggins. R. p. 105, lines 17-21. He testified he never heard Huggins' name until Montgomery provided the information that led to Huggins. R. p. 112, lines 20-23. He also never pointed out anybody for her to identify; she was the one who identified Huggins as a suspect. R. p. 105, line 25 - p. 106, line 9.

ARGUMENT

The trial court did not err in finding the state's witness's claim identifying someone else as her accomplice was merely cumulative to her trial testimony that Appellant was not her accomplice. Because the affidavit contradicted her trial testimony that she did not know Appellant, it was more inculpatory than exculpatory. The alleged after-discovered evidence would not change the result if a new trial was held.

Appellant Huggins argues the trial court erred in denying his motion for a new trial. Although his co-defendant, Montgomery, previously identified Huggins as one of the two cowardly robbers during her interview with law enforcement, she claimed at trial Huggins was not the man with whom she planned the robbery. Montgomery did not testify at the motion for new trial, instead Huggins' counsel relied solely on the affidavit attached to his new trial motion. R. p. 248. The trial court found the claim identifying Jasmine Mitchell as the person she planned the robbery with was merely cumulative to her trial testimony in which she claimed someone other than Huggins was the robber. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying the motion for a new trial.

Huggins' counsel presented some sort of visual presentation rather than present testimony. R. p. 244, lines 16-19. The "new evidence" was Montgomery claimed Jasmine Mitchell was the robber wearing the mask, not Huggins. Although already incarcerated at the time of trial, Montgomery claimed she was scared of Mitchell then, but apparently now she is no longer scared. R. p. 248, lines 17-22.

Montgomery's new version wanes rather than waxes in exculpatory value. At trial Montgomery claimed to not know Huggins: "They asked me was it Junk. So I assumed that that was Junk. I, I don't remember him. I don't know him." R. p. 51, lines 16-18. The prosecutor asked Montgomery, "Did you make a statement to police identifying Junk as the one who went with you

and Ty to do an armed robbery? Montgomery replied, "I remember the name. So, yes, I did make the statement but what I'm telling you is this is not the same person." R. p. 52, lines 4-8. Later she testified, "Junk went with me, nut what I'm telling you is I don't remember him. I don't know who he is." R. p. 61, lines 4-7.

The prosecutor asked if she told detectives she was scared of Junk, and she claimed, "I remember telling them that. Yeah. **Because I didn't know who he was. I don't know anything about him.** So, yea, I did say it." R. p. 61, lines 16-22. She claimed on redirect, "I didn't know his real name until I read my motion of discovery." R. p. 62, lines 16-17. She claimed she identified Junk from the lineup because the picture of him was already circled. R. p. 63, lines 1-5.

In her affidavit, Montgomery admits she knows Huggins. She claimed she asked Huggins to use his car and he said no ("I called first, him Jamar Huggins about using his car, told me no."). Then Tyjuan asked Huggins and he let Tyjuan use the car, but did not know they were planning a robbery ("We never told Jamar about the robbery. Junk was sleeping.") R. p. 233. She claimed she and the robbers used the car without Huggins' knowledge. She even purported to know Huggins' character: "Jamar is a calm, cool guy, laid back. Jamar just hangs out. I have never known Jamar to get in trouble." R p. 234. Contradicting her trial testimony, Montgomery clearly knew Jamar was "Junk": "Jamar Huggins (Junk) was not present during the robbery." R. p. 233.

Huggins' counsel offered to present other "evidence" but just argued facts without presenting supporting evidence. For instance, he tried to explain why Montgomery picked Huggins out of the lineup, arguing he looked like Mitchell. R. p. 249. See Bowers v. Bowers, 304 S.C. 65, 68, 403 S.E.2d 127, 129 (Ct. App. 1991) ("Arguments of counsel are . . . not evidence."). Counsel's claim of misidentification speciously ignores the affidavit counsel submitted to the court in which

Montgomery professes to know not only Huggins' identity, but also his characteristics.

In Hayden v. State, 278 S.C. 610, 299 S.E.2d 854 (1983), this Court held that:

A party requesting a new trial based on after-discovered evidence must show that the evidence: (1) Is such as would probably change the result if a new trial was had; (2) Has been discovered since the trial; (3) Could not by the exercise of due diligence have been discovered before the trial; (4) Is material to the issue of guilt or innocence; and (5) Is not merely cumulative or impeaching.

The trial court correctly noted Montgomery claimed at trial that Huggins was not a robber, and in the affidavit, still claimed Huggins was not the robber. So the trial court correctly determined the evidence is merely cumulative. Further, the short answer is Montgomery was not after-discovered evidence. She is not recently discovered. Her generation of a new version of events does not entitle Huggins to a new trial. At trial, she admitted she knew the robber's identity but did not want to say who it was. R. p. 60, lines 5-7 ("I didn't want to say the name that we got it from, and I still don't want to say the name."). The identity of this person could be elicited at trial, and therefore, her ability to identify Jasmine Mitchell was not new evidence.

It certainly would not change the result at trial. The affidavit confirms that Montgomery knows Huggins and that Huggins' car was used in the robbery. It is more inculpatory than exculpatory, and any reasonable juror would realize Montgomery is merely attempting to generate a new story that more closely aligns with the State's evidence. In State v. Marks, 70 S.C. 448, 50 S.E. 14 (1905), the Supreme Court refused to suspend an appeal for a witness who would impeach a State's witness. The Supreme Court noted, "Whether the deceased had a knife in his hand during the difficulty with the defendants was strenuously contested on the trial, and to reopen that matter, merely because someone has been discovered who has heard one of the state's witnesses make

statements contradictory of his testimony on the trial, would establish dangerous precedent.” Id. at 448, 50 S.E. at 15. The Court quoted prior precedent to observe, “If such a ground be held sufficient to sustain a motion like this, it would be opening the door to fraud and perjury, and cause interminable delay in the trial of causes.” Id. (citation and internal quotation marks omitted). The Supreme Court’s concern in Marks applies here. Given three opportunities, Montgomery has supplied three different versions about the robbery she participated in. The affidavit reveals Montgomery perjured herself at trial when claiming she did not know Huggins.

The Supreme Court subsequently quoted Marks, and also observed, “The ‘whereabouts’ or ‘identification’ of the appellant are not new questions raised by this motion, as both his identification and whereabouts were at issue in the trial and were decided by the jury adversely to him.” State v. Clamp, 225 S.C. 89, 95, 80 S.E.2d 918, 921 (1954). The Supreme Court held, “We see no reason to hold that the alleged newly discovered evidence would probably change the result if a new trial were granted, and this in itself would be a sufficient reason for the refusal of appellant’s motion, aside from what has been said above.” Id. at 96, 80 S.E.2d at 921; see also State v. Needs, 333 S.C. 134, 158, 508 S.E.2d 857, 869 (1988) (finding one reason the after-discovered evidence claim failed was its cumulative nature: “Appellant would have little or no more evidence to argue to the jury than he did in the first trial.”); State v. Wells, 249 S.C. 249, 153 S.E.2d 904 (1967) (approving the trial court’s finding that the affiant’s evidence, claiming a state’s witness admitted receiving vitamin B-12 shots rather than shots to induce an abortion from the defendant was “cumulative and/or impeaching” because it merely impeached the state witness and was cumulative to the defendant and his employees’ claims they only gave the state’s witness vitamin B-12 shots).

In the instant case, Montgomery’s contention that Huggins did not participate in the robbery

did not change since trial. What changed is her important admissions in her affidavit that she knew Huggins, meaning she did not misidentify Huggins to law enforcement as she perjurally claimed at trial. In isolation, these two factors warrant denying the motion for new trial. In tandem, it is clear the so-called after-discovered evidence would not have changed the result if a new trial was held.

Granting a motion on after-discovered evidence is not favored and reviewing courts will not disturb the trial court's denial absent an error of law or abuse of discretion. Needs. "A motion for new trial based on after-discovered evidence is addressed to the sound discretion of the trial judge." State v. Irvin, 270 S.C. 539, 545, 243 S.E.2d 195, 197 (1978). The credibility of newly discovered evidence is for the trial court to determine. State v. Porter, 269 S.C. 618, 621, 239 S.E.2d 641, 643 (1977). "Only the trial court and not the appellate court has the power to weigh the evidence; the trial court's judgment will not be disturbed except for error of law or abuse of discretion." State v. Harris, 391 S.C. 539, 545, 706 S.E.2d 526, 529 (Ct. App. 2011) (citing Irvin). "In this post-trial setting, our jurisprudence recognizes the gate-keeping role of the trial court in making a credibility assessment." State v. Mercer, 381 S.C. 149, 166, 672 S.E.2d 556, 565 (2009) *quoted in Harris*. When testimony is in conflict and depends on the credibility of the new evidence, it is the duty to the trial judge to assess the evidence. State v. Deese, 266 S.C. 534, 538, 225 S.E.2d 175, 176 (1976).

In the instant case, at trial, Montgomery claimed Huggins was not one of the robbers. Her testimony did not change in this regard, and therefore, the testimony in this regard was merely cumulative. On the other hand, the testimony is impeaching her claims she did not even know Huggins. So it certainly would not change the result if a new trial was held. Therefore, the trial court did not err in denying the motion for new trial based on after-discovered evidence.

CONCLUSION

For all of the foregoing reasons, the judgment and conviction of the lower court should be affirmed.